
Gloucestershire Schools Forum

Thursday 14 November 2019 
at 2.00 pm until 4.00 pm

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester



    



    

Gloucestershire Schools Forum
Thursday 14 November 2019

2.00 pm until 4.00 pm

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Joanne Bolton

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Forum must declare an interest in any agenda item 
where the outcome may give them a direct pecuniary advantage or 
avoid a disadvantage.  A form is available at the back of the meeting 
room.

Joanne Bolton

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To receive any public questions. Questions can be asked on the day 
or sent to the Clerk before the meeting. A written answer will be 
provided if questions are received 3 clear working days before the 
date of the meeting. The Chair will advise timescale for any 
questions asked on the day of the meeting or received less than 3 
working days before the meeting.

Joanne Bolton

4  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8)

To agree the minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 19 
September 2019  and note actions.

Joanne Bolton

5  AMENDMENT TO THE MEMBERSHIP STRUCTURE OF THE 
SCHOOLS FORUM (SPECIAL SCHOOL REPRESENTATION) (Pages 9 
- 14)

Joanne Bolton

6  SCHOOL FUNDING 2020/21 (Pages 15 - 24) Philip Haslett, 
Neil Egles

7  HIGH NEEDS (Pages 25 - 48) Philip Haslett

8  F40 (Pages 49 - 60) Philip Haslett

(a) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Joanne Bolton, Clerk to the Forum
:01452 324197/e-mail: joanne.bolton@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

mailto:joanne.bolton@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

(b) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.



1

GLOUCESTERSHIRE SCHOOLS FORUM
Minutes of a meeting held on Thursday 19 September 2019

in the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

Present:

Brian Bartlett - Primary School Governors (Academy)
Penny Chislett - Post-16 Education
Elisa Entwistle - Alternative Provision Schools
Andrew Harris (Chair) - Community Representative
Kirsten Harrison - Secondary School Headteachers (Academy)
Kate Hawkins - Special School Governors
Amanda Horniman - Early Years Providers
Dan Johnson - Primary School Headteachers (Maintained)
Lisa Jones - Primary School Headteachers (Maintained)
David Metcalf - Primary School Headteachers (Maintained)
Will Morgan - Secondary School Headteachers (Academy)
Sarah Murphy - Trade Unions
Alexander Norman - Secondary School Governors (Academy)
Clare Steel - Special School Headteachers
Rob Wilcock - Secondary School Headteachers (Academy)
Observers: Cllr Richard Boyles, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding

and Early Years

Officers: Tim Browne, Director of Education
Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and
Development
Neil Egles, Finance Manager, Schools Strategy and Capital
Suzanne Hall, Finance Business Partner
Gareth Vine, Universal Commissioning Manager
Joanne Bolton, Democratic Services Adviser and Clerk to the
Forum.

Apologies: Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cabinet Member: Economy, Education and
Skills
Colin Belford, Secondary School Headteachers (Maintained)
Matthew Bishop, Primary School Governors (Maintained)
Sara Byrne, Primary School Governors (Maintained)
Peter Hales, Primary School Governors (Academy)
Rachel Howie, Gloucester Diocese
Liam Jordan, Clifton Diocese
Gwyneth Keen, Early Years Providers
Jacqui Phillips, Secondary School Governors (Academy)

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

2 

Steve Savory, Primary School Headteachers (Academy)
Adam White, Secondary School Governors (Maintained)
Stuart Wilson, Secondary School Headteachers (Academy)

21. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made

22. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions had been received.

23. MINUTES 

23.1 The minutes of the previous meeting held on 20 June 2019, were approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.

23.2 The following points were made in regards to the actions from the last meeting:

23.2.1Clawback
As requested at the last meeting of the Forum, officers had sought clarification from 
the Education Skills Funding Agency (ESFA), on how any clawed back surplus 
funds were allowed to be used.  Officers had also checked whether or not it was 
permissible for any school balances clawed back from mainstream schools to be 
used in the High Needs Block.  

It was reported that the Schools Forum and the local authority had flexibility to 
agree a mechanism for clawing back unused school balances from maintained 
schools and to agree how to use any funding clawed back.  However, any 
mechanism should have regard to the principle that schools should be moving 
towards greater autonomy and should not be constrained from making early 
efficiencies to support their medium-term budgeting. 

It was the experience of officers that schools holding large surplus balances would 
have plans in place for the funds.  It was pointed out that some secondary 
academies were holding substantial surplus balances.  It was made clear by the 
ESFA that they had no mechanism to claw back funding from academies and there 
was currently no intention for them to create one. 

Having considered the claw back mechanism in more detail, it was decided by the 
Forum that in order to treat all schools equitably and align with the view of the DfE 
that schools should be moving towards greater autonomy, the clawback provision 
would be removed from the Gloucestershire County Council Scheme for Financing 
Schools.  

23.2.2 Lobbying and Media

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

3 

Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development, explained that in light 
of the recent Government funding announcements the local authority would no 
longer be moving forward with the funding events which were due to take place in 
each of the six constituencies, as had been previously planned.  

24. GOVERNMENT EDUCATION FUNDING SPENDING REVIEW 

24.1 Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development, gave a presentation 
on the details of the recent funding announcement and what this could mean for 
Gloucestershire.

24.2 The Forum was informed that the headlines were: 

 £14 billion of extra funding in primary and secondary education between now 
and 2022/23;  

 An investment of £700 million in Special Educational Needs Disabilities 
(SEND); 

 £400 million of funding for 16-19 education providers such as further education 
and sixth form colleges; 

 £66 million for Early Years, targeted at increasing the hourly rate paid in 
nurseries; 

 £1.5 billion each year to continue to fund additional pension costs for teachers.

24.3 Neil Egles, Finance Manager - Schools Strategy and Capital, explained that the 
continued protections would ensure that all mainstream schools saw a funding 
increase in pupil funding; capped schools would see the most gain as they moved 
towards the National Funding Formula (NFF) much more quickly. 

24.4 The Forum noted that the Institute of Fiscal Studies had stated this level of funding 
should be sufficient to reverse cuts to schools of 8% over the past decade.  There 
was recognition amongst members that this represented a healthy package and it 
had been received very positively by the sector.  Officers reported that they had 
undertaken some initial modelling and were cautiously optimistic that the funding 
package would be sufficient to deliver the requirements of the funding formula.  
However, further detail was needed to develop the funding model and thus fully 
assess what this meant for Gloucestershire schools.

24.5 Members of the Forum acknowledged one particular area of concern in the funding 
announcements - the potential impact on schools of the pay award for newly 
qualified teachers (staring salary due to rise to £30,000.00 in 2022/23). Officers 
explained that it was not yet clear how this would be delivered, but it would have a 
wider affect to pay scales and as such, would increase existing staff costs; further 
detail was awaited.  

25. SCHOOL FUNDING 2020/21 

25.1 Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development, introduced the report 
on school funding in 2020/21. He explained that the recent announcements and the 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

4 

associated changes to school funding that were required, meant that the ESFA had 
not been able to provide indicative Dedicated Schools Grant budgets; changes to 
the NFF rates; or changes to the Authority Pro-Forma Tool rules that local 
authorities had to follow when submitting their school budget formulas.  Officers 
anticipated that this information would be received in time for an update to be 
presented at the next Schools Forum meeting on 14 November 2019.   

25.2 Officers explained that just prior to the publication of the report they had received 
further details from the ESFA, and those details were set out in the report.   A key 
point was that the Government had confirmed its intention to work closely with 
schools, local authorities and others on a move to a ‘hard’ NFF for schools where 
budgets would be set on the basis of a single national formula.  The Forum noted 
the changes to the NFF as outlined in the report.

25.3 The Forum noted that the mobility factor (targeted additional funding to the schools 
with the highest levels of pupil turnover outside the usual points of entry), had not 
been included in Gloucestershire’s 2019/20 school funding formula.  However, it 
would now be included in the 2020/21 formula due to it being included as a formula 
factor within the NFF.  Previously this factor had been based on historic spend, but 
it would now be based on a formula. Some schools in Gloucestershire would 
receive an allocation of funds in accordance with this formula factor; however, detail 
on the formula that would be used for this was needed for a full understanding of 
how this would work.

25.4 The Forum noted that officers would be undertaking further modelling work 
throughout October as further details were announced by the Government.  More 
information on what the announcements meant for Gloucestershire schools would 
be available at the next Forum meeting on 14 November 2019.

25.5 The Forum was able to make decisions on the amount of the growth funding to be 
allocated and the de-delegations for 2020/21.

25.5.1 The Forum agreed a top-slice from the Schools Block for growth in 2020/21 of 
£1.429M, subject to being updated for any change in the basic need Age Weighted 
Pupil Unit rates for 2020/21.

25.5.2 The Forum considered the proposals for de-delegations.  Sarah Murphy, Trade 
Union representative, presented the report on Local Authority Teaching Union 
Facilities 2019.  She emphasised the importance of the de-delegation provision for 
union facilities, explaining that the funding allowed teaching unions to provide 
Gloucestershire schools access to effective statutory and collective consultation, 
bargaining and individual representation from trained and accredited local teaching 
union officials.  School leaders and managers also had access to a valuable 
resource in the resolution of workplace issues and disputes.  Local officers were 
able to respond to the large proportion of queries for informal advice from members, 
via phone and email, which resulted in issues being dealt with without having to 
involve the school or without escalation to any formal procedure.   The Chair on 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

5 

behalf of the Forum thanked the Trade Union representative for her report.  The 
Forum noted the report.

25.5.3 In response to a question, it was clarified that secondary schools and academies 
could buy-in union facilities through the local authority’s traded services 
arrangement.  There was a mixture of some schools opting to buy-in the trade 
union facilities arrangements and others that did not.  The Trade Union 
representative pointed out that it was a statutory requirement for all local authority 
maintained schools to meet statutory and procedural entitlements to union 
representation, and the de-delegation for union facilities had been established as 
being the most cost effective way of schools meeting this requirement.  

25.5.4 Members of the Forum felt that it would be useful to receive benchmarking 
information on the arrangements and de-delegation amounts for union facilities, in 
other comparable authorities.  It was agreed that the Forum would be provided with 
this information during the next budget setting round in September 2020.
ACTION: Philip Haslett/Sarah Murphy

25.5.5 The Forum’s maintained schools’ representatives present at the meeting (by sector) 
agreed de-delegation at the per pupil rates shown in the report for: In-year 
increases in pupil numbers – primary; Targeted intervention – primary; Union 
facilities – primary; Local authorities’ duties (primary and secondary).

26. HIGH NEEDS 

26.1 Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development, introduced the report 
which provided an update on the year to date High Needs budget.  

26.2 The Forum was informed that the High Needs Block remained in a deficit position, 
with a deficit carry forward of £2.88M from 2018/19 and an in-year forecast of 
£4.26M, total of £7.14M.  The areas of significant overspend were being driven by a 
continued rise in Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP) which had resulted 
increased place costs for further education colleges; independent special schools; 
and special schools.  Officers explained that by the Forum agreeing the change to 
the ‘1 in 75’ rule, to ‘1 in 40’ (this rule compensates schools that attract a 
disproportion number of children with high needs), the costs to the High Needs 
block had reduced by £2M (i.e. preventing an additional £2M being added to the 
total figure of in-year deficit for High Needs).

26.3 It was recognised that there has been a rise in complexity and depth of need in 
children and young people, which had increased the numbers of EHCPs and the 
associated costs.  In addition, schools were less equipped to deal with increased 
need due to the reductions in budgets, and were therefore seeking funding via an 
EHCP.  Officers outlined the intention to look at models to try to reduce the reliance 
on EHCPs to support children and young people with additional needs. 

26.4 In response to a question, the Head of Education Strategy and Development 
explained that in order for the budget to become sustainable, costs to the High 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

6 

Needs block relating to EHCPs needed to reduce by £2-3 million.  This represented 
an approximate 10-20% reduction in the number of EHCPs.

26.5 Tim Browne, Director of Education, stressed that there was not enough funding 
available to meet the level of need.  Each EHCP cost approximately £6,000 (this 
figure related to the undertaking of the statutory process only). He added that better 
use needed to be made of the available resources, without getting locked into a 
restrictive statutory process.  This would enable support to be tailored and 
apportioned earlier and more accurately.  

26.6 There was some concern raised around the plans to reduce the number of EHCPs.  
However, there was also recognition that the plans to reduce the number of children 
with an ECHPs were founded on the development of a new model to make funding 
available to schools in a more accessible way, allowing for earlier intervention and 
support.  There was recognition that if the new model was to be successful then the 
Early Help support provided by school and the LA team would need to be enhanced 
from the current way of working.  

26.7 It was noted that in the new year, the Schools Forum Working Group’s focus would 
be on the improvement of the graduated pathway, and the EHCP process.

26.8 The Forum was informed that work being done to reduce exclusions had been 
effective.  In 2018/19 the work of the inclusion service and the restorative practice 
team contributed towards an 18% reduction in permanent exclusions.  Support and 
intervention from the inclusion service avoided around 80 permanent exclusions, 
which would have cost the High Needs budget approx. £1M.  It was noted that the 
Schools Forum Working Group would be meeting in October and November 2019 
to consider the development of new approaches to managing exclusions, with a 
view to running a pilot in the Spring Term.

26.9 It was reported that if the recently announced additional funding for education was 
apportioned in a similar way to the additional Government funding that was 
announced in December 2018, £200 million of funding would be retained by the 
DfE to support the free school programme and £500 million allocated to High 
Needs. If this was the case, Gloucestershire could expect to receive around £5 
million for High Needs revenue.  If all £700 million was allocated to High Heeds 
revenue, Gloucestershire could expect to receive around £7 million for revenue.

26.10 Officers emphasised the point that if the funding was received at either of those 
levels it would not be a panacea, but would bridge the gap.  It would allow for 
respite to implement the High Needs Strategy, and would bring the budget back into 
balance. New models still needed to be developed, as the current way of working 
was not sustainable.  Officers updated the Forum on the progress made against the 
key areas of activity in the High Needs Strategy, which were being delivered to 
reduce costs and improve the service available to children and young people.   

26.11 The Forum noted the update.

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

7 

27. EDUCATION CAPITAL 

27.1 Gareth Vine, Universal Commissioning Manger, introduced the report on the annual 
budget for the 2019/20 Children and Families Capital programme.  He explained 
that in-between the date of the publication of the report, and the date of the Forum 
meeting, the forecast spend against the Capital Scheme changed.  Therefore, the 
Forum was provided with an update different to that set out in the report.  

27.2 He explained that the capital schemes were forecast to spend approximately 
£21.339M in 2019/20.  The revised forecast indicated a slippage of £6.676 million 
from the original spend for this year of £28.015 million.  The Forum was advised 
that this was due primarily to more accurate programmes developed by project 
teams for newer schemes they developed, together with some delays encountered 
through the planning process.  Whilst this indicated a reduced forecast spend for 
this financial year it did not impact on the cost of an individual project or its delivery 
date.  

27.3 In response to a question, it was confirmed that none of the free school bids were 
for special schools.  Clare Steel, Special School headteacher representative 
explained that she was deeply concerned that there were not enough special 
school places for the children who needed them.  In response, Tim Browne, 
Director of Education, explained that he understood the concerns and made 
reference to there being a national SEND crisis.  He commented that in other areas, 
where the local authority had increased the number of special schools/places, the 
number of children needing a place still continued to grow, and the budget deficit 
continued to increase, thus indicating that increasing the number of places available 
could not be the only solution.  He emphasised that there needed to be a systemic 
change, specifically how the available resources could be used more effectively, to 
improve outcomes for children and young people with special needs.  

27.4 The Forum noted the project updates as outlined in the report.

Chairman

Meeting concluded at 3.32 pm

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

The Gloucestershire Association of Special School Headteachers has requested that 
the Special Schools representation on Gloucestershire Schools Forum be increased.   
 
The current Special Schools representation on the Schools Forum is: 
Special School Headteacher - 1 
Special School Governor -1   
 
The current sub-groups of headteachers and governors in the Primary and 
Secondary membership phases on the Schools Forum are represented by members 
of both maintained and academy schools.  However, there is currently no separation 
between academy and maintained representation within the Special Schools 
membership phase.     
 
Consequently, in order to increase the Special Schools representation on the Forum, 
and align it with the Primary and Secondary membership, it is proposed that the 
membership structure of the Schools Forum be amended to include one additional 

Amendment to the Membership Structure of the 

Schools Forum - Special School Representation  
 

Schools Forum Date 14 November 2019 

Type of Decision For decision 

Background 
Documents 

Schools Forum Constitution (Attached at Annex A) 

Authors Joanne Bolton, Clerk to the Schools Forum 

Purpose of Report To inform the Schools Forum of the request from the 
Gloucestershire Association of Special School Headteachers to 
increase the Special Schools representation on the Schools Forum. 
 
To seek the Forum’s approval to increase the Special Schools 
representation on the Schools Forum. 

Key 
Recommendations 

Recommendation 1: To note the request from the Gloucestershire 
Association of Special School Headteachers to increase the Special 
Schools representation on the Schools Forum. 
 
Recommendation 2: To approve the increase to the Special Schools 
representation on the Schools Forum, and for the headteacher and 
governor sub-groups to be represented by one member of a 
maintained school and one member of an academy as outlined 
below: 
  
Special School Headteachers:  2 (one academy representative and 

one maintained representative) 
Special School Governors: 2 (one academy representative and 

one maintained representative) 
 

Resource 
Implications 

N/A 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



Special School Governor; and one additional Special School Headteacher.  The 
headteacher and governor sub-groups will then be represented by one member of a 
maintained school and one member of an academy.  
 
The current Special Schools representatives are: 
Clare Steel – Special School Headteacher (maintained) 
Kate Hawkins – Special School Governor (academy) 
 
Therefore an election will be undertaken for:  
1 Special School Headteacher (academy)  
1 Special School Governor (maintained). 
 
Recommendation 1: To note the request from the Gloucestershire Association of 
Special School Headteachers to increase the Special Schools representation on the 
Schools Forum. 
 
Recommendation 2:  To approve the increase to the Special Schools 
representation on the Schools Forum, and for the headteacher and governor sub-
groups to be represented by one member of a maintained school and one member 
of an academy as outlined below: 
  
Special School Headteachers: 2 (one academy representative and one   
     maintained representative) 
Special School Governors:  2 (one academy representative and one   
     maintained representative) 
 

Page 10



GLOUCESTERSHIRE SCHOOLS FORUM 
CONSTITUTION 

The Gloucestershire Schools Forum has been set up under the requirements of 
Section 47A of the School Standards & Framework Act 1998, and the Schools 
Forums (England) Regulations 2012.  

The Forum must meet at least four times a year. All Forum meetings must be held in 
public. 

The Forum is not a committee of the council and therefore sits outside the legislation 
relating to council committees.  

1. Membership

1.1 The membership of the Forum is as follows and accords with the Schools 
Forums (England) Regulations 2012: - 

School members: 
Primary School Heads 4 
Primary School Governors 4 
Secondary School Heads 4 
Secondary School Governors 4 
Special School Head  1 
Special School Governor 1 
Pupil Referral Units  1 

Non-School members: 
Diocesan Representatives 2 
Post 16 Representative 1 
PVI providers/early years     2 
Trade Union Representative    1 
Community Representative - (Chair of the 1 
Schools Forum)  ---------- 

26 

It is important to note that regulations (2012) require that: - 
a) there must be at least one Academy member on a Schools Forum where there

are Academies in the local authority’s area
b) at least one member must be a representative of the governing bodies of

maintained schools, and
c) at least one member must be a representative of the head teachers of

maintained schools.
The Gloucestershire Schools Forum have agreed that Forum representation will be 
proportionate to the number of Academies and Maintained Schools in each sector. 

Forum members have a term of office of four years. A Forum member remains in 
office until: - 
(a)  the member’s term of office expires;  
(b)  the member ceases to hold the office by virtue of which the member became 

eligible for election, selection or appointment to the forum;  
(c)  the member resigns from the forum by giving notice in writing to the authority; or 
(d)  in the case of a non-schools member, the member is replaced by the authority, 

at the request of the body which the member represents, by another person 
nominated by that body  

ANNEX A

Page 11



(e)  whichever comes first.  
1.2 Substitutes 
All groups of Forum members (secondary, special and primary school head teachers 
and governors) should nominate sufficient substitutes. This is necessary to ensure 
each elected Forum member can identify a substitute to enable meetings to be 
quorate. The election procedure must seek substitutes in addition to Forum 
members. 
 
1.3 Observers 
The Regulations provide that the Secretary of State can appoint an observer to 
attend and speak at Schools Forum meetings, e.g. a representative from the 
Education Funding Agency (EFA). This allows a conduit for national policy to be 
discussed at a local level and provide access for Schools Forums to an additional 
support mechanism, e.g. where there are highly complex issues to resolve. 
 
1.4 Local Authority Cabinet Members 
Cabinet members with responsibility for education/children’s or resources of the 
authority are able to attend meetings of the Forum (although there is no 
requirement). This enables the Cabinet Member to hear first hand the views of the 
Forum, and at the discretion of the Chair, to contribute to the discussion.  

 
2. Powers and Responsibilities 
The functions of the Forum and the local authority are described at Annex 1. 

 
3. Management of Meetings 
3.1 Election of Chair and Vice-Chair 
The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Forum will be elected for a two year term of office, at 
the meeting in April or the nearest following date if no meeting takes place in April.  
An elected member or officer may not be the chair or vice-chair.   
 
3.2 Quorum 
The Forum shall be quorate if at least 40% of the total membership is present at the 
meeting.  
 
An inquorate meeting can respond to authority consultation, and give views to the 
authority. It is good practice for the authority to take account of these views although 
it is not legally obliged to do so. 
 
3.3 Voting procedure 
Any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those members present in the 
room and voting, save that voting on 

 The funding formula is limited to schools members and PVI representatives, 
and 

 De-delegation is limited to the specific primary and secondary phase of 
schools members. 

 
Chair’s casting vote 
If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the chair will have a second or 
casting vote.  
 
Method of voting 
The chair will take the vote by show of hands, or, if there is no disagreement, by the 
consent of the meeting. 
  
3.4 Members of the Public 
Meetings of the Forum are open to members of the public.  
 

Page 12



The Forum’s agenda will include an item relating to questions from members of the 
public. The Forum asks that written questions are submitted to the Clerk to the 
Forum 3 clear working days before the date of the meeting. These questions will be 
provided with a written answer. 
 
Questions can be asked on the day of the meeting but an answer cannot be 
guaranteed on the day.  
 
3.5 Local Authority Officers 
Only specific officers who can speak at meetings of the Schools Forum are eligible to 
attend. These officers are:-  

 Director of Children’s Services or their representative  
 Chief Financial Officer or their representative  
 Any person invited by Schools Forum to provide financial or technical advice  
 Any person presenting a paper to Schools Forum but their ability to speak is 

limited to the paper that they are presenting.  
 
3.6 Confidential Business 
The Chair may require that an item of business is considered by the Forum in private 
and may therefore exclude the Press and Public.  Any such items will normally be 
taken at the end of the agenda. 
 
 
3.7 Declarations of Interest 
Members of the Forum must declare an interest on any agenda item where the 
outcome may give them or their establishment a direct pecuniary advantage or avoid 
a disadvantage. 
 
4. Working Groups 
If required the Forum may set up (time limited) working groups of members to 
discuss specific issues and to produce draft advice and decisions for the Forum itself 
to consider.  
 
The Forum may not delegate actual decisions or the finalisation of advice to a 
working group, as this may have the effect of excluding legitimate points of view. 
 
Working group notes/and or outcome reports must be formally received at Forum 
meetings. 
 
4.1 Strategic Planning Sub-Group 
This sub-group is in place to develop and oversee the Forum's strategic priorities, 
evaluate the impact of government and LA policy and to advise the Forum on any 
issues of major significance to all schools. 
 
The notes/outcome reports from the sub-group must be formally received at Forum 
meetings. 
 
5. Standards 
Forum members will treat each other and officers of the Local Authority with dignity 
and respect.  In exceptional circumstances and, having issued a suitable warning, 
the chair may exclude an individual from the meeting. 
 
6. Agenda Papers 
Agendas will normally be dispatched at least 5 working days prior to the meeting and 
will be distributed electronically and made available in paper form.  
  
 

Page 13



7. Access to Information 
Any Forum member may request information that is not of a confidential nature.   At 
the discretion of the chair, such requests will be met.  Any such information will be 
copied to the chair who may direct that all other Forum members should receive the 
same information. 
 
8. Communication outside meetings 
Where an issue occurs outside the meeting round that requires urgent attention, the 
chair will seek a view from all members and communicate this to the Local Authority 
via the clerk to the Forum. 
 
9. Reimbursement of Expenses 
Travelling Expenses 
Forum members may claim travel expenses (current rate is 45p per mile) on 
submission of the appropriate claim form. 
 
Chargeable costs 
Where a Headteacher has a teaching responsibility and has to organise supply cover 
in order to attend a Forum meeting, the cost of that supply may be reclaimed from 
the Local Authority. Where a member has to incur child care or other costs 
specifically to attend a Forum meeting, the cost of care may be reclaimed from the 
local authority. 
 
 

Page 14



 

1 Introduction 
 
On the 19th September 2019 the Schools Forum discussed the 30th August 2019 
Prime Minister announcement of £14billion extra funding for Education.  
At that time only limited information was available on what that might mean for 
Gloucestershire as key National Funding Formula (NFF) and indicative Dedicated 
Schools Grant (DSG) figures at local authority level were still not available. The 
Forum were however able to make decisions on growth funding and de-delegation. 
 
On the 11th October 2019 the Education and Skill Funding Agency (ESFA) published 
NFF provisional allocations for schools, high needs and central school services for 
2020/21. They also made available indicative DSG figures at local authority and 
released the local authority pro-forma tool (APT) that shows the formulas LAs can 
use to allocate funding to schools. LA DSG information on early years has not yet 
been released. 
 
The DSG figures released are indicative only at this stage. Final DSG figures will be 
released in December 2019 along with the October 2019 pupil census and other 

School Funding 2019/20  

Schools’ Forum 
Date 

14th November 2019 

Type of Decision For decision 

Background 
Documents 

30th August 2019 Prime Minister announcement about £14billion 
extra funding Link  

DfE announcement on £30,000 starting salaries for teachers Link  

Schools Forum 19th September 2019 School Funding 2020-21 

Author Phil Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development 

Neil Egles, Finance Manager – Schools Strategy and Capital 

Purpose of Report To set out the implications of government indicative announcements 

on school funding for 2020/21 and to seek agreement from the 

Forum on the funding formula method to use for Gloucestershire 

schools and academies 

Key 
Recommendations 

Recommendation 1 The Schools Forum agrees the basis on which 

the formula will be allocated for 2020/21 in line with their previous 

stated intention to match the NFF method as closely as possible. 

Resource 
Implications 

Funding announcements relate to indicative increases in DSG 
funding. Exact amounts for Gloucestershire are not due to be 
announced until December 2019. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6

https://schoolfinancialsuccess.us13.list-manage.com/track/click?u=6262ca36ac03845f346f25913&id=54ca847a3b&e=dc8e04b92f
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/30000-starting-salaries-proposed-for-teachers


census data that will be used to determine schools’ actual budget allocations for 
2020/21. 
 
2 Government Announcements 
 
2.1 Teachers’ Pay Grant (TPG) and Teachers’ Pension Employer Contribution 

Grant (TPECG) 
 
Details of how the 2019/20 grants will be paid to schools and the rates applicable to 
each sector are attached at Annex A. 
 
The DfE have confirmed that the teachers’ pay grant and teachers’ pension employer 
contributions grant will both continue to be paid separately from the NFF in 2020/21. 
 
They will publish updated TPG rates and allocations in spring 2020. Maintained 
schools will be paid using these rates from the start of their financial year in April 
2020, and all schools from August 2020. 
 
 
2.2 Indicative 2020/21 DSG allocations 
 
The indicative 2020/21 DSG was announced in October (this is before any changes 
for the updated census data that will be announced in December 2019) and is shown 
below.  
 

 
The 2020/21 growth funding element of the schools block has not yet been 
announced so the schools total above currently includes growth funding at the £2.6m 
2019/20 level. 
 
No 2020/21 indicative DSG has been received yet for Early Years block funding so 
that is included above at its current 2019/20 level. 
 
Last year there was not enough funding to fully fund schools at the NFF rates and a 
0.46% reduction to those was therefore necessary. This year the initial indications 
based on the 2019/20 data and indicative 2020/21 DSG announcements above is 
that Gloucestershire is receiving enough schools block funding to allocate school 
budgets using the NFF factor rates at their 100% level.  
 
The actual position however will not be know for sure until the final DSG and revised 
pupil data is received in December 2019. This final position will be presented at the 
9th January 2020 Schools Forum meeting. 
 

Page 16



3 The NFF and Gloucestershire Schools Funding Formula 
 
The DfE have stated they are still committed to the implementation of a hard schools 
funding formula, but have not yet indicated when that might be. 
 
The published figures are indicative only.  The update for the October 2019 census 
data will change the picture at local authority and school level. 
 
The key changes and clarifications for 2020/21 are: 
 
Minimum Funding Levels (MFL) 
These have increased to £3,750 for primary schools and to £5,000 for secondary 
schools. The primary MFL for 2021/22 has also been announced at £4,000. The 
government have made these MFL rates compulsory for 2020/21 as a first step 
towards hardening the NFF. 
 
These amounts exclude the premises elements of the formula but include the lump 
sum and any sparsity allocation so should not be confused with the Basic entitlement 
age weighted pupil unit rates. They are the minimum amount a school will receive 
per pupil, if the total produced by their funding formula (excluding premises factors) is 
lower than the MFL. 
 
Based on the draft figures 28 primary schools (11%) and 21 secondary schools 
(53%) require an uplift to the MFL. 
 
NFF Formula factor rates 
The NFF formula figures have increased by 4% apart from: 

 Free school meals which has been increased by 1.84% for inflation, 

 Premises funding which is allocated at LA level based on 2019/20 allocations.  
 
Split site factor. 
The DfE currently identify this as an element of premises funding and therefore 
allocate funding for it to LAs based on the previous year’s allocations. It is then up to 
LAs and schools forums to identify their own local formula for allocating to schools. 
As the Gloucestershire split site formula is based on a lump sum and per pupil 
amount, we have uplifted this for 2020/21 by 4% in line with the other formula factors. 
 
Mobility factor 
The NFF now includes a new mobility factor formula, which is intended to support 
schools in which a high proportion of pupils join throughout the school year.  
 
The pupils eligible for funding through the NFF mobility factor are pupils whose 
school census record at their current school (or one of its predecessors) in the last 
three years indicates an entry date which is not typical. So where the first census a 
pupil is recorded as attending the school is a January or May census, or in the case 
of the reception year a May census. 
 
If the total of the school’s mobility pupil count is above a threshold of 6% of their 
number of pupils on roll, then the school receive funding for each mobility pupil 
above the threshold at £881 in primary and £1,258 in secondary.  

Page 17



 
Early indications using mobility data provided by the DfE and the 2019/20 NOR are 
that around 107 primary schools and 3 secondary schools will be eligible to receive 
mobility funding, with the highest amount being £31,592 in a primary school where 
just under 16% of their NOR are counted as mobility pupils.  
 
Capping 
In 2019/20 capping totalled £1.3m from 69 primary schools (no secondaries were 
capped). All capping has been removed from the NFF in 2020/21 and therefore from 
the Gloucestershire formula. These 69 schools will therefore receive their full formula 
allocation without any capping reduction in 2020/21. 
 
Funding Floor and Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) 
The option to use a funding floor factor in the APT the same as the NFF was added 
by the ESFA in 2019/20, but has been removed as an option for 2020/21. 
 
The NFF includes a 1.84% funding floor transitional adjustment against the school’s 
previous year’s indicative NFF (not the school’s actual budget received). Instead of 
this LAs must use a minimum funding guarantee (MFG) rate between +0.5% and 
+1.84% when compared to the school’s actual pupil led funding in the previous year. 
 
It is the government’s expectation that LAs will set the MFG at a level that mirrors the 
floor protection in the NFF. As this was set at 1.84% we have set the MFG at the 
same level which is currently showing 13 schools will receive MFG protection (this 
was 72 in 2019/20). 
 
If MFG was instead set at +0.5% the difference in the overall MFG protections cost 
would be a saving of approximately £0.1m. 
 
Area Cost Adjustment (ACA) 
Gloucestershire receives an uplift to the nationally quoted NFF rates in the form of an 
area cost adjustment which is 1.00629.  
 
This is designed to uplift funding in line with local area costs and the DfE calculate 
this taking into account a combination of:  

 The teacher pay cost adjustment, an element to reflect the differences in the 
basic pay ranges between the four regional pay bands for teachers, 
and  

 The general labour market cost adjustment, an element to reflect 
geographical variation in wage costs for non-teaching staff.  

 
The nationally announced 2020/21 formula rates for each factor and what these 
equate to for Gloucestershire after the ACA has been added are as follows: 
 

Page 18



 
 

A summary of the total formula allocation based on the draft announcements and 
2019/20 data is attached at Annex B. This shows an estimated total delegation cost 
of £371.495m.  The de-delegation from maintained schools as previously agreed at 
the September Forum meeting is also shown. These amounts will change once the 
final DSG and new data is received in December 2019. 
 

Page 19



The forum had already agreed the growth fund at its September meeting which has 
been uplifted from £1.429m as agreed to take account of the new NFF AWPU rates 
and now totals £1.493m 
 
Recommendation 1 

The Schools Forum agree the basis on which the formula will be allocated for 

2020/21 in line with their previous stated intention to match the NFF method as 

closely as possible. 

 

 

4. High Needs Block 

The indicative figures for the high needs block for 2020/21 show an increase of 

£6.131m (10.24%) before recoupment.  More detail is outlined in the High Needs 

report. 

 
5. Central Schools Services Block (CSSB) 
 
The CSSB includes funding for on-going responsibilities of Local Authorities for the 
statutory duties that they hold for both maintained schools and academies. It includes 
funding for Admissions, School Forum coordination, copyright licences and centrally 
retained duties. The allocation is based on a formula using pupil numbers (90%), free 
school meals (Ever 6, 10%) with an area cost adjustment applied. The indicative rate 
per pupil for 2020/21 is £31.94 and there has been a small £293 reduction in the 
block total compared to the previous year which will be absorbed within existing 
budgets. 
 
6. Early Years Block 
Provisional hourly rates for two and three and four years olds were published on the 
31 October 2019 with an 8 pence increase on both rates. These provisional rates 
would provide additional funding of £0.605 million based on current numbers. The 
total early years block for 2020/21 is due to be announced by the DfE in 
December 2019 and then will be updated further in summer 2020 and summer 2021 
for the January pupil counts. Discussions will now take place with the Early Years 
Forum and School Forum in the regard to the formula for early years providers and a 
proposal brought to Schools Forum in January. 
 
 
7. Next steps/timetable 

 December 2019 – announcement of Dedicated Schools Grant for 2020/21 
updated for data changes arising from the October 2019 school census. 

 9th January 2020 – Forum to agree final recommendations on the school 
funding formula for 2020/21. 

 28th February 2020 – Individual 2020/21 school budgets issued. 

 

Page 20



Annex A 
Teachers pay grant 

In July 2019 the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) announced that 

the upper and lower boundaries of all teachers pay ranges would rise by 2.75% 

from 1st September 2019. The ESFA also announced that the teachers’ pay 

grant will be uplifted to fund the 0.75% element of the pay award over 2%. The 

ESFA have assessed a 2% pay rise as being affordable for schools.   

Details on the allocation methodology for the new teachers’ pay grant, which is 

in addition to the grant already provided to cover the ongoing impact of the 

September 2018 teacher’s pay award is available on the ESFA website: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teachers-pay-grant-

methodology/teachers-pay-grant-methodology 

The 2019-20 figures represent: 

 in respect of the 2018 pay award, the ongoing cost for the 12 months of 

the 2019-20 financial year 

 in respect of the 2019 pay award, the cost of the award for the seven 

months from 1 September 2019 to the end of the 2019-20 financial year. 

The teachers pay grant will be paid on a per pupil basis as below: 

 

These rates have been updated from those originally announced to take into 

account the additional funding for the 2019 pay award. Mainstream primary 

schools are to be funded at the primary school rates, and the secondary school 

rates will apply for all 11 to 19 year olds. All mainstream schools with less than 

100 pupils will be funded as if they had 100 pupils, whilst Special and AP 

schools will be funded for at least 40 places.  

The 19/20 grant will be paid in two instalments. The first payment was made in 

the summer term and the second payment will be made in the Autumn term. 

 For maintained schools these will be paid to the LA, whereas academies and 

free schools will receive their funding directly from the ESFA. 

Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teachers-pay-grant-methodology/teachers-pay-grant-methodology
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teachers-pay-grant-methodology/teachers-pay-grant-methodology


Annex A continued 

Teachers pension employer contribution grant 

The ESFA have confirmed that the costs to support the increase in the 

employer contribution (from 16.9% to 23.6%) to the Teachers Pension Scheme 

that came into effect on 1st September 2019 will be covered by a new 

Government grant. 

As with the Teachers Pay Grant, this will be allocated on a per pupil basis. the 

DfE has set out what the ‘per pupil’ rates will be: 

Sector Gloucestershire 

Primary £77.50 

Secondary £114.08 

Special/AP £282.89 

 

Mainstream primary schools are to be funded at the primary school rates, and 

the secondary school rates will apply for all 11 to 19 year olds. All mainstream 

schools with less than 100 pupils will be funded as if they had 100 pupils, whilst 

Special and AP schools will be funded for at least 40 places.  

In addition to the ‘per pupil’ funding a Supplementary Fund has also been 

created, which will help to ensure that there is support in place for schools 

facing unusually high pension costs. Where a school faces a shortfall between 

their grant allocation and their actual increase in pension costs, of more than 

0.05% of their overall budget, they will be able to apply for some additional 

monies from this Supplementary Fund. Applications for this additional funding 

will be based on schools’ actual pension costs for November 2019.   

The 2019/20 grant payments are due to be paid in the Autumn term. For 

maintained schools these will be paid to the LA, whereas academies and free 

schools will receive their funding directly from the ESFA. In 2020/21, this grant, 

together with the existing Teachers Pay Grant, will continue to be paid 

separately from the NFF DSG allocations. 

Details of the grant methodology and supplementary fund are available on the 

ESFA website: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-grant-

2019-to-2020-allocations-and-supplementary-fund 

 

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-grant-2019-to-2020-allocations-and-supplementary-fund
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pension-grant-2019-to-2020-allocations-and-supplementary-fund


Annex B 

 
 
 

P
age 23



Annex B continued 

 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 24



 

High Needs Report  

Schools’ Forum 
Date 

14th November 2019 

Type of Decision For decision 

Background 
Documents 

High Needs Strategy 

Funding inclusion and early intervention proposal 

Working group notes 

Authors Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development 

Purpose of Report  To provide an update current forecast for the high needs budget for 

2019/20 

 To update and receive feedback on the data and evidence to support a 

review of special school places in the county. 

 To update and feedback on the rate of permanent exclusion in the 

county 

 To update and receive feedback on the progress in developing primary 

local inclusion clusters and the proposed projects.  

Key 
Recommendations 

 

Recommendation 1: Engagement with Gloucestershire Association of 

Special Schools Headteachers to: 

 

 Explore how additional special school places can be commissioned 

for 2020/21; 

 To understand more fully the needs that can’t be met by special 

schools and put in place support to enable them to be met in 

county, rather than more expensive independent special school 

provision   

 

Recommendation 2: Given the current High Needs deficit, we are 

recommending that top-up rates for EHCPs for 20/21 are maintained at the 

current rates. 

Resource 
Implications 

Additional High Needs Funding for 20/21 relates to indicative increases in 
High Needs funding announced by the education skills funding agency. 
Exact amounts for Gloucestershire are not due to be announced until 
December 2019. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



1. Introduction 

 

We continue to see pressure on the High Needs budget due to the increasing levels of Special 

Education Needs and Disabilities (SEND) that are being identified which is resulting in a 

continued rise in the number of Education Health Care Plans (EHCPs). This was outlined in 

both the June and September Schools Forum meetings and is explained in more detail below. 

 

The table in fig.1 shows the rising need in relation to the population and the increasing 

numbers of EHCPs in the system. The table shows that, as at January 2019, the rise in 

EHCPs in Gloucestershire is in line with the national comparison and slightly below (0.1%) 

that of our statistical neighbours.  

 
Fig.1 

 
 

The graph in fig.2 plots the number of new EHCPs that have been issued and the number that 

have been ceased since 2014/15.  In 2017/18 Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) 

undertook a full review of plans and was able to cease a number of inactive plans (no funding 

associated), which accounts for the spike shown in the cessation of plans.  Without this 

exercise the cessation of plans would be have continued at around 130-150 per year.  The 

level of new plans has been consistently around 500 plans per year for the last three years. 

 

If this trend is sustained at the current levels we can expect to continue receiving an additional 

350 plans a year. 
 
Fig.2 

 
 

2. The impact on budget 

 

The table in fig.3 provides shows the latest forecast for High Needs spend this year, alongside 

the budget and September’s Schools Forum reporting to show the variance since we set the 

budget and since we last reported.    
 
Fig.3  

Page 26



High Needs Block 
 

Budget 
SF Sept 

2019 SF Nov 19 
Variance 
to budget 

Variance 
since 

Sept SF 

  
£000 

 
£000 £000 £000 

Alternative provision - places & 
top ups & services 

 
5,647.1 

5,732.0 
5,746.2 99.1 14.2 

Alternative provision - Glos 
Hospital Education 

 
1,619.4 

1,645.0 
1,639.1 19.7 -5.9 

EHCP Costs - College and FE 
 

3,961.3 4,592.0 5,087.5 1,126.2 495.5 

EHCP Costs - Early Years 
 

166.3 166.0 166.3 0.0 0.3 

EHCP Costs - Primary 
 

6,521.7 6,722.0 6,821.7 300.0 99.7 

EHCP Costs - Secondary 
 

3,661.6 3,762.0 3,703.2 41.6 -58.8 

Excluded pupils 
 

0.0 -78.0 -81.7 -81.7 -3.7 

LA Services and staffing 
 

3,375.8 3,528.0 3,567.4 191.6 39.4 

Independent Special Schools 
 

10,726.6 12,092.0 12,592.4 1,865.8 500.4 

Restorative Practice 
 

200.0 195.0 172.8 -27.2 -22.2 

Special Centres 
 

487.7 492.0 492.1 4.4 0.1 

Special school provision 
 

16,601.8 17,262.0 18,747.0 2,145.2 1,485.0 

Support Services 
 

1,262.6 1,198.0 1,233.7 -28.9 35.7 

Virtual School 
 

610.4 610.0 610.4 0.0 0.4 

High Needs Unallocated 
 

-1,257.7 -66.0 0.0 1,257.7 66.0 

Recoupment 
 

6,351.0 6,351.0 6,351.0 0.0 0.0 

  
59,935.6 64,203.0 66,849.1 6,913.5 2,646.1 

  

The current forecast shows and in-year overspend of £6,913,500.  This will move the overall 

deficit for the dedicated schools grant to £9,502,400. 

 

The main areas of overspend are: 

 

EHCP costs for Colleges and Further Education is £1,126,200 over budget, which is a 

further £495,000 since the last reporting period due to a higher than expected increase in new 

plans. This is because we are continuing to see an increase in the number of children and 

young people with additional needs accessing further education. This is positive and reflects 

well on the work of that has been done by the post-16 team and the work on preparing for 

adulthood.  

 

The Independent Special School budget is now forecast to be £1,856,800 over budget; this 

is an increase of a further £500,000.  This is due to a higher than expected increase in the 

number of referrals received during September and October. Joint funded residential places 

account for around £4m of spend, this level of spend has remained relatively stable over the 

last 3 years.  The significant movement is on independent special school places, which is 

shown on the graph in fig.4 below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



 

 

 
Fig.4  

 
 

Special School Provision is the most significant increase this month, with a movement of 

£1,485,000 in the reporting period and £2,145,200 against budget.  This is driven by an 

additional 78 placements which are on average costing £27,500 per placement.  

 

The demand for special schools places has taken a number of special schools significantly 

over commissioned numbers. Despite this there have still been a significant number of cases 

that have had to go to independent provision due to lack of maintained special school places 

(fig.5). 

 

Deficit Recovery planning  

Further to the discussions at the September forum we now have more clarity on the additional 

funding that was announced.  In 2020/21 Gloucestershire can expect to see an additional 

£6.13m allocated to High Needs funding.  This is a recognition that since the change in the 

code of practice the High Needs budget has been significantly underfunded. However, this is 

not sufficient to bridge the current in-year deficit. 

The long term plan outlined in the high needs strategy to provide earlier intervention and 

support to meet need, prevent escalation and ensure access to mainstream education is 

critical.  However given the continued rise in EHCPs, we also need to consider how can have 

short term impact on the overspend.  The key area of focus is on ensuring our special school 

provision has sufficient capacity and expertise to meet needs and reduce the use of 

independent specialist provision.   

We have undertaken an analysis of the current trends in both independent special school 

placements and referrals to special schools, details of which are shared below. 

   

3. Independent School Place analysis 

 

The analysis of independent special school places identifies a number of key areas for further 

investigation: 

 

 Reasons for placements identified in fig.5, show a significant number of independent 

school places where special schools can’t meet need or have available places; 

 The timing of placements as shown in fig.6 identifies a significant movement at the 

end of primary education throughout secondary education; 

 The significant rise in SEMH placements as outlined in fig.7; and 

Page 28



 The significant proportion of boys referred to independent specialist provision as 

shown in fig.8.  

 
Fig.5 - Reason for Independent School Placement 

 

 

 

Fig.6 - Number of independent school placements by National Curriculum Year 

 
 
Fig.7 - Number of SEMH placements into independent school  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fig.8 – Independent School Placements by Gender 

 
 

In addition to the data shown above, appendix 1 provides details for the last full academic year 

(2018/19). 

 

What does this tell us? 

 

The plans to build a new 75 place 11-16 SEMH special school is an essential addition to our 

special school provision.  However, if the current levels of need continue, it will only provide 

part of the provision we need. 

 

The focus on prevention through early intervention and support is critical to reduce the rising 

level of need in the system. As outlined in previous meetings we have been developing a 

model to help fund and support this.  The model and the key principles are outlined in the 

attached paper ‘funding inclusion and early intervention’, which was discussed and the key 

principles agreed at the recent Schools Forum Working Group. Notes from the working group 

are included with the schools forum papers. 

 

In addition to the focus on earlier intervention, we need to ensure that we have capacity in our 

special school provision and ensure that we are able to meet.  The data above clearly shows a 

significant number or children and young people accessing independent provision due 

primarily to an inability to meet need and capacity.  

 

Recommendation: Engagement with Gloucestershire Association of Special Schools 

Headteachers to: 

 

 Explore how additional special school places can be commissioned for 2020/21; 

 To understand more fully the needs that can’t be met by special schools and put in 

place support to enable them to be met in county, rather than more expensive 

independent special school provision; 

   

 

 

 

Page 30



 

 

 

 

4. Education Healthcare Care Plan (EHCP) top-up rates 

 

In preparation for setting 2020/21 budgets we have considered whther to recommend an 

increase to the mainstream EHCP top-up rate.  The table below provides details of the EHCP 

top-up rates for 19/20.   

 

 
 

The table below outlines the cost of applying a 1.84% inflationary increase based on forecast 

EHCP projections for next year: 

 

Sector Cost Increase of 1.84% applied to EHCP top ups 

Early Years £26,000 

Primary £297,000 

Secondary £224,000 

Total Increase £ £547,000 

 

Recommendation 2: Given the current High Needs deficit, we are recommending that top-up 

rates for EHCPs for 20/21 are maintained at the current rates. 

 

5. Transfer from Schools Block to High Needs Block 

 

At this time we are not proposing to make an application to transfer funding from the schools 

block to the high needs block. 

 

6. Alternative Provision and Permanent Exclusion 

 

Good progress continues to be made in reducing the rates of Permanent Exclusions (PEX). The 

table below shows permanent exclusions at the end of October compared to the prior year.  

Primary is inline with last year and secondary PEX is significantly down for the same period. 

 

Provision Total Sept/Oct 2018 Total Sept/Oct 2019 

Primary 2 2 

Secondary 25 9 

Special 0 0 

APS 0 0 

Total 27 11 

 

Page 31



This has enabled referrals to Alternative Provision to stay under commissioned numbers and as 

such is spending is currently within budget. See table below: 

  

School Commissioned No Placements 

Cheltenham and Tewkesbury 54 43 

Stroud and Cotswold 54 34 

Gloucester and Forest 108 70 

Total 216 147 

 

An additional 8 primary short stay places are being provided by The Ridge Academy. This has 

enabled the prevention of a number of primary permanent exclusions. 

 

The Schools Forum working group met in October to explore the longer term strategy to 

devolve funding to schools and local inclusion clusters.  Notes of the meeting and the paper that 

was presented are included in Forum papers.  Overall the feedback on the principles and the 

approach was positive and there was agreement that this is right strategy. However, there was 

a clear message that the availability (immediacy and capacity) of services and support to 

enable schools and local inclusion clusters to be effective is essential and that implementation 

timescales should be carefully considered to ensure success. 

 

7. Primary Local Inclusion Clusters 

 

Implementation of the primary local inclusion clusters (LINCs) is progressing well. Leads from 

each of the Primary Local Inclusion Clusters are meeting again on the 7th November to finalise 

plans for the implementation of their local projects.  Each partnership has completed a full 

proposal; of which summaries are described below. 

 

West Gloucestershire Schools Partnership 

West Gloucestershire Schools Partnership has identified 4 areas of focus in their bid: 

1. Enable schools to access the most appropriate support for children with identified SEMH 

and / or SEND needs 

2. Improve the provision of SEMH and SEND training and support within the partnership to 

address the issues which are acting as barriers to learning 

3. Improve the access to Space to Shine – a social and emotional intervention created by 

the GFAPS outreach team for children who are struggling with their SEMH needs in their 

mainstream setting.  

4. Provide access to short term placements at the Joys Green Centre  

 

Tewskesbury District Partnership 

The TDP pilot project will focus upon improving pupil wellbeing, achievement and attendance 

through support programmes targeted at identified mental health needs that are most 

prevalent for the vulnerable pupils within primary schools (including dealing with loss, handling 

emotions and identifying / addressing emotional distress).  

Dealing with loss: http://www.build-happy.co.uk/2017/10/25/buildhappy-dealing-loss/  

Handling emotions: http://www.build-happy.co.uk/upcoming-training/  

Hidden Needs: http://www.build-happy.co.uk/buildhappy-hidden-needs/  

Initially the pilot group would comprise of 10 schools from across the partnership area (varying 

in size, demographic and level of deprivation).  Participating schools are: St Mary’s Primary, 

Norton Primary, Highman Primary, Hartpury Primary, Isbourne Valley Primary, Churchdown 

Page 32

http://www.build-happy.co.uk/2017/10/25/buildhappy-dealing-loss/
http://www.build-happy.co.uk/upcoming-training/
http://www.build-happy.co.uk/buildhappy-hidden-needs/


Village Juniors, Parton Manor (Infants & Juniors) & Grangefield Primary. 

 

The programme will include: 

 TRAINING-A staff member in each school would be trained in each of the focus areas 

detailed below (one –two staff members trained per area or more for schools where 

one focus area is more prevalent).  

 RESOURCES-A Lego kit would be supplied for each delegate (although the 

programme can be delivered through other media such as art & craft, playdough etc. if 

a child was not responding to the medium of Lego). 

 DELIVERY-Funding for release time for trained Practitioners to lead the programme 

sessions would be allocated for each delegate (between 1-3 per school TBC). The 

programme would be quite intensive with 2 x 30/40-minute sessions per pupil, per 

week delivered over a 12 period.    

 

 Stroud Association of Schools 

To make the children in Reception more school ready as they move into Year 1.  This will 

include improving their speech and language, social and emotional skills and manual 

dexterity, linked to the prime areas of the EYFS curriculum.  

To identify children entering Reception with development below their chronological ages in the 

Prime Areas of Learning, providing early intervention and specialist support for children and 

families. The aim is for these children to make accelerated progress and achieve a GLD by 

the end of Reception year, ready to access the National Curriculum in Year 1. 

 To develop and fully audit the areas of need, to allow children to be as school ready as 
possible and demonstrate the prime areas of learning.  

 Commission a family worker with their remit to include family support groups in the 
areas of need, including model reading groups, games (possibly mobile game 
resources) parent and child sessions in school times, family support, time to talk 
sessions and how to ‘leave the devices’. This will upskill parents to support their child’s 
learning and social and emotional development at home.  

 Commission a speech and language specialist to spend time in each setting, including 
modelling for parents and upskilling staff. (This will support increased access and 
facilitate initial appointments.  

 To develop nurture (further nurture) / family SEAL support, which  include parents / 
carers in the sessions, to role model how to support their  children’s language 
development. 

 Training for staff- in developing children’s speech & language skills and in 
understanding how to support children with Communication & Interaction difficulties 

 Providing outreach from the schools to share best practice, maximising skills and 
knowledge, moving towards sustainability in the future. 

 Providing Educational Psychologist input, if children having accessed this support 
continue to not reach the criteria.  

 

South Cotswold Schools Partnership 

To encourage and support SCSP schools to have a whole school planned approach to 

inclusion 

Improve staff knowledge and understanding of the underlying causes of challenging 

behaviour and strategies for managing it.  

 All staff across SCSP have completed Positive Behaviour Management Team Teach 

Page 33



course Level One (6 hours) https://www.teamteach.co.uk/ 

 Whole staff training in trauma and mental health informed schools 
https://www.traumainformedschools.co.uk/ 

 Staff training in Emotion Coaching. https://www.emotioncoachinguk.com/ 

Improve understanding of inclusion agenda and develop consistent practice across the 

cluster 

 SCSP school senior seaders agree guiding principes for school behaviour and anti 
bullying policies  

 Governors of SCSP schools have a collective understanding of the national and local 
inclusion agenda and what it means for our schools.  

 Parenting programmes to be delivered across SCSP schools to raise awareness of the 
inclusion agenda 

Sharing good practice and support 

 Networks of SCSP Inclusion leads, ELSAs and nurture TAs to hold ‘Teachmeet’ type 
events and share good practice.  

 SCSP Heads to agree a clear process for Pastoral Support Plans, managed moves 
and exclusions and support other heads in implementation of these processes. .  

 SCSP Heads to visit other partnerships nationally to see successful inclusion 
approaches in action. 

 

North Cotswolds 

Anecdotal and empirical data for the North Cotswolds is showing that there 
is an increased number of children joining school with poor speech, communication delay, 
poor understanding of relationships and increased traits of ASD/ADHD and autistic tendencies 
and a notable increase in attachment/trauma related issues. 
  
This local initiative for early intervention, through hubs in local areas led by and run by school 
leaders is a real opportunity to put into practice proper early intervention.   
 
Project 
1) Provide intensive 15 week programmes, in 5 week blocks, across 4 hub locations around 
the cluster for 2 semesters to pupils in KS1 in… 

• Nurture 
• Speech 
• C and I / Occupational Health 
• Traits of ADS 
• Language delay 
• Vocabulary depth 

  
2) Provide increased capacity in the workforce through bespoke CPD and in house training for 
TA / T in 5 week programme as follow up in class 

 

Gloucestershire Schools Partnership 

Using an inclusive community model, develop sustainable mental well-being whereby schools 
and homes support children's emotional regulation through an agreed, city-wide, annual 
programme of shared practices and understanding.  
 
Although many GSP schools have supported pupils and parents through specific workshop 
style schemes we recognise our existing programmes are having limited lasting success and 
collectively identify this as an area of growing need. 
 
1) With the support of Emotion Coaching (EC) lead practitioners, deliver school wide emotion 

Page 34

https://www.teamteach.co.uk/
https://www.traumainformedschools.co.uk/
https://www.emotioncoachinguk.com/


coaching training to enable up to 10 schools to have STRONGLY embedded school 
based practices  

2) From these 10 schools train 2 school based lead practitioners in more advanced practices 
AND 1 day how to work with parents.  

3) From this group train up to 10 practitioner trainers to enable future years to sustain 
programme.  

4) Groups of schools (2 or 3) within this group, with EC support, will run small group pilots to 
ensure the events/activities that have the most impact are included in the route planner. 

5) Run an agreed 'city-wide' launch parenting event in summer term. 
6) Develop a set route planner of support for use by all schools and an on-line resource base 

for use by staff and in the  long term parents. 
7) Train next group of 5 schools for following year. 

 

Cheltenham Learning Partnership 

22 Cheltenham schools completed an inclusion audit in order to identify local needs. The 
findings showed that the majority of schools identified the need for specific help with regards 
to trauma. ACEs research shows many children who have been excluded in the past had 
suffered from trauma so we believe tackling this within schools as part of our wider 
‘Cheltenham Offer’ will reduce exclusions. 
 

 

Page 35



8. Appendix 1 

 

P
age 36



 

Funding Inclusion and Early Intervention 

Introduction 

Gloucestershire like many Local Authorities across the country has seen a consistent rise in the rate of 
permanent exclusion from mainstream education.  

In May 2019 the government published ‘The Timpson Review of School Exclusion’, which sought to 
understand the cause of this rise and to make clear recommendations for the government, local authorities 
and schools to consider.   

In the governments response to the recommendations they have said: 

 “We will establish a practice programme that embeds effective partnership working between 
LAs, schools, alternative provision and other partners to better equip schools to intervene early 
for children at risk of exclusion and to ensure that the most effective provision is put in place for 
those who are excluded. We will build on the excellent practice you have seen during the review 
and recent research commissioned by DfE.” 

 “We now call on Directors of Children's Services, governing bodies, academy trusts and local 
forums of schools to review information on children who leave schools, by exclusion or 
otherwise, and to establish a shared understanding of how the data on the characteristics of 
such children feeds local trends.” 

These recommendations and the response align with feedback received through Gloucestershire’s High 
Needs consultation which took place in the autumn 2018. 

This paper sets out a proposal to deliver the recommendations and the government’s response, by 
transforming the way in which Gloucestershire utilises High Needs funding to support inclusion and thus, 
reduce rates of permanent exclusion.  

The Vision and Aims 

Our vision is: 

“To ensure that funding is utilised effectively to provide early intervention and support for children and 
young people with SEND and for those at risk of permanent exclusion” 

In delivering this vision we aim to: 

 Support and enhance inclusion in the mainstream by ensuring that funding and LA support services 
are more accessible to schools; 

 Develop an inclusive culture across the county that is underpinned by effective collaboration and 
partnership working; and 

 Reduce rates of permanent exclusion across the county 

 Ensure that High Needs funding is used effectively; providing value for money; and ensuring the 
best outcomes for children and young people. 

Page 37



 

The Proposal 

Working with Gloucestershire Schools, the Local Authority proposes a partial devolvement of High Needs 
Block Funding to schools in order to provide earlier targeted interventions for children to reduce the risk of 
exclusion and better support their challenging behaviour issues. 

The proposal has three core elements: 

1. To devolve an agreed amount of funding to each of the Primary Local Inclusion Clusters (LINCs) to 
provide early intervention and support for children that are at risk of permanent exclusion. 

2. To devolve funding to support a tiered approach to behaviour support for secondary schools. 
Funding will be devolved in two elements: an amount to each secondary school for utilisation within 
the school setting to enhance existing provision; and an amount devolved for use by a local cluster 
of secondary schools for collaborative support and intervention. 

3. A retained amount by the Local Authority to reform and maintain a specialist Alternative Provision 
Service that offers vocational and academic qualification routes for KS4 students. This would be 
accessed in most instances without the necessity for permanent exclusion. It is envisaged that this 
service will form part of a multi-agency ‘Local Offer’, which brings together all LA services to support 
local clusters. 

Alongside this we will also be exploring the development of a new SEND funding model that is focussed on 
ensuring funding is available to provide intervention and support at the earliest opportunity.  This will 
involved the development of a model that enables schools and early years providers to access funding 
outside of the statutory EHCP process. 

1. Primary Arrangements 

Rates of permanent exclusion in primary schools have reduced significantly over the last 18 months (fig.1), 
with only 17 permanent exclusions in 2018/19.   

Fig.1 

NCY 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 

1 0 2 3 3 4 4 1 

2 1 0 3 5 4 2 3 

3 1 2 7 2 7 10 2 

4 3 7 3 8 3 3 3 

5 2 4 5 7 7 3 4 

6 7 3 5 6 5 7 4 

 
14 19 26 31 31 30 17 

 

We recognise that many primary schools are providing a significant amount of support and intervention to 
ensure that children can continue to access mainstream education. We want to try and ensure that funding 
is available to support and enhance this work. 

We are therefore proposing to devolve funding to Local Inclusion Clusters so that they can: 

Page 38



 

 invest in development programmes and strategies to build expertise and capacity within their 
schools and local area; 

 Foster and support effective  peer to peer support and challenge to ensure high and consistent 
levels of inclusion across the county  

 Access support services and partnership/assessment places, including the LA services and support 
from specialist Alternative Provision providers.  

The LA will ensure that multi-agency support and identification services are accessible to the local inclusion 
clusters through a coherent and joined up child-centred approach. We will build on and adapt the 
successful ‘Team around the School’ model that has been piloted in a number of secondary schools. 

Should support from the school and from the LINC not prove effective in allowing the child to access 
mainstream education, the school will work closely with the Local Authority to agree the most appropriate 
provision for the child to transition. This would not include permanent exclusion. 

How will this operate? 

The intention is to operate on a 3 tiered model that comprises: 

1. Baseline Inclusion: Primary schools will agree a baseline for inclusion in the mainstream – What 
are the minimum levels of support and intervention that we would expect a primary to provide to a 

child that is at risk of exclusion? This would be linked to the graduated pathway and what should be 
ordinarily available inside and outside education   

2. LINC Support: If the school has undertaken all baseline activity and is still concerned that the child 
needs further specialist intervention and support the school can make the case to the LINC for 
additional funding to support assessment, interventions, or short-term placements in alternative 
provision.  This will be agreed through a local school led panel, supported by the Local Authority 
(LA) and key members of LA services. 

3. Specialist Provision: If, following the intervention and support provided through the LINC, the child 
still can’t engage in mainstream education, the school will engage with specialist commissioning to 
agree the most appropriate next steps. At this stage the school will need to have followed the 
graduated pathway and EHCP process.  

Funding will be available to each Local Inclusion Cluster based on an agreed funding formula, to enable 
access to intervention and support at Tier 2. 

In agreeing to this approach we want to set the expectation that no child will be excluded from primary 
education in Gloucestershire; that we reduce the number of children and young people needing to access 
the statutory EHCP process to access SEND support and funding; and that we provide support and 
intervention to ensure that all children can access mainstream education if it’s appropriate for them. 

Page 39



 

2. Secondary Arrangements 

A significant proportion of permanent exclusion both nationally and in Gloucestershire takes place in the 
secondary phase. See fig.2 that shows Gloucestershire data for the last 7 years. As in primary we saw a 
reduction in permanent exclusions in Gloucestershire in 2018/19.   

Fig.2 

NCY 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

7 8 6 8 6 6 8 7 

8 14 18 18 14 28 17 16 

9 25 17 23 33 36 29 32 

10 29 23 27 44 25 35 23 

11 3 10 12 11 15 19 18 

 

79 74 88 108 110 108 96 

 

As outlined for primary schools we want to continue to build on the improvements that were seen last year. 
At the current levels we will still be spending too much money supporting children and young people that 
have already been permanently excluded and not enough on identifying and support those at risk of 
permanent exclusion. 

To achieve this we are, as with primary, proposing to devolve funding to schools and secondary inclusion 
clusters so that they can: 

 invest in development programmes and strategies to build expertise and capacity within their 
schools and local area; 

 Foster and support effective  peer to peer support and challenge to ensure high and consistent 
levels of inclusion across the county; and 

 Access support services and partnership/assessment places, including the LA services and support 
from specialist Alternative Provision providers.  

How will this operate? 

There has already been significant consultation and discussion with secondary schools across the county 
to inform the development of a child-centred tiered model of support. This is much the same as the primary 
model described above, however, there are some differences in how the secondary model could operate: 

1. Funding will be partially devolved to schools and partially to the local clusters. 

2. Once the cluster has exhausted the options to support a child or young person to stay in the 
mainstream, the local cluster will be able to commission a place in a specialist alternative provision 
service. However we expect this service only to be accessed for KS4 provision. 

Using feedback from schools, further work has been done to develop the detail for each Tier.  This is 
described below.   

Page 40



 

 

Baseline Proposal 

The SLA for Cluster School Partnership Baseline Provision requires each school to offer a combined 
SEND/Pastoral Team Approach. Students should be assessed using the graduated pathway. 

Where the behaviour issues displayed are persistent and disruptive, early assessment and planning are 
key aspects of baseline support. External services such as The Advisory Teaching Service, Education 
Psychology Service, Speech and Language Assessment Team or Families First would be referred to and 
involved as appropriate. Individual or whole class strategies to improve behaviour strategies, based on 
professional advice, will be implemented.  

Where adverse childhood experiences, community or family influences are believed to be contributing 
factors in displayed negative behaviour, referral to the Community Social Worker and Families First would 
be made as part of any planned behaviour support. 

Baseline School Level Support should be provided for any child who receives multiple fixed-term 
detentions for disruptive behaviour in class or 1 fixed-term exclusion for persistent disruptive behaviour. It 
is assumed that schools will invest in upskilling teaching staff in conjunction with principles of Quality First 
Teaching which will mitigate numbers of children displaying persistent disruptive behaviour and requiring 
baseline interventions. 

School leadership and staff are aware of the impact of Trauma and Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs) and equipped to identify and support impacted Children and Young People. 

 

Tier 1 – Cluster support 

Once Baseline assessments and interventions have been carried out within the home school, with any 
required outside agencies engaged and no positive impact has been ascertained, then referral to a 
Cluster Inclusion Improvement Panel (CIIP) can be made. In addition, referral to a Strategic Behaviour 
Support Panel (SBSP) can be made where a student commits a one-off serious breach of school 
behaviour policy putting their place at the home school in jeopardy. 

Panel consists of: Cluster Pastoral Leads, Cluster SENCOs, EIS Outcome Coordinator (advice and 
guidance, including on remit of panel) 

Purpose and remit of CIIP: Each home school referral to be discussed at Panel, including nature and 
extent of behaviour issues, a statement of all prior baseline assessments, interventions, work of outside 
agencies, My Plan, (My Plan Plus) and My Assessment all to be included in submission paperwork. 

Possible Decision by Panel 

All decisions, including a provision map, for each student discussed should be produced as an outcome 
of the meeting and recorded by the CIIP. 

A. Offer further guidance on support to be implemented by the Home School, if what has already 

been put in place is considered by the panel to be thus far inadequate or inappropriate. A plan of 

required actions and a review date should be set at which time the Home School may wish to 

revisit the referral to the CIIP. 

B. Offer access to appropriate interventions using a supported Managed Move within the cluster. A 

Plan with Actions to support the student to be established at the meeting and the EIS Outcome 

Page 41



 

Coordinator will coordinate the supported move between schools following the GCC Protocol and 

recording the Managed Move at GCC. 

C. Offer access to appropriate temporary off-site Alternative Provision from a provider within the LA 

AP Directory. A plan for the specific goals that are hoped to be achieved and expectation of 

progress by the AP provider should be made and covered by a Service Level Agreement.  

D. Where a case has previously been heard by the CIIP and all planned actions followed without any 

positive improvement to a student’s behaviour, the case can either be re-planned using variants of 

the above options or, where options are considered exhausted or unlikely to be successful, referral 

to the Higher Tier Alternative Provision Panel can be made via the Cluster Strategic Behaviour 

Improvement Panel Chair. 

 

Tier 2 – Alternative Provision 

Where Baseline and Tier 1 support has not been effective, CIIP may refer, via the Cluster Strategic 

Behaviour Improvement Panel Chair,  the student’s case to the Tier 2 AP Panel who can either: 

a. Return to home school with recommendations for further supportive interventions 

b. Return to CIIP for Supported Managed Move 

c. Arrange for Tier 2 Alternative Provision (cluster to pay £7000 towards costs from centralised 

cluster funding; student remains on home school roll until end of Year 11). 

3. Specialist Alternative Provision and Support from the LA 

To operate the models for primary and secondary schools detailed above, we recognise that schools need 
access to high quality support that is available at the point of need. There are three areas that will need 
development: 

1. The re-design and development of the existing Alternative Provision service, with a focus on 
providing: 

i. A service that offers short term placements for the primary sector, which are focussed 
on identifying and putting in place plans to address underlying and unmet needs to 
enable and support an effective transition back into mainstream. 

ii. A strong vocational and academic programme to meet the needs of KS4 pupils that 
have been unable to effectively access mainstream education and curriculum. 

2. The development of a multi-agency service that is able to provide effective and accessible 
support and interventions for schools and local inclusion clusters. The ‘Team Around the School 
Model’ has been effective in supporting a number of secondary schools this year. We want to 
explore how we can develop this model to support local school clusters. 

3. The development of a wider marketplace of support for local inclusion clusters to access and 
engage. This should include third sector and private sector organisations that can provide 
specialist support and outreach services from the LA services and special schools.  

Page 42



 

4. The model 

The diagram below attempts to show how the core elements described above come together.  

Primary Local 
Inclusion 

Clusters (LInCs)

Secondary 
Schools

Early Years Settings
Primary Schools

Secondary 
Local Inclusion 
Clusters (LInCs)

Primary Secondary 

Post-16 and FE

Marketplace (mix of 
free and paid services)

Third and Private Sectors 
(maintained by Specialist 
Commissioning)
 CMAS
 Young Gloucestershire
 The Bridge
 Alternative Provision
 Special Schools
 FE/P16

High Needs Funding
 Devolved AP funding to support inclusion and reduce permanent exclusion (devolved to 

primary LInCs and Secondary Schools)
 SEN funding to support need – myplan, myplan+ - Accessed via recommendation from 

local panel of SENCOs (LInCs)

D
ev

o
lv

ed
 A

P
 f

u
n

d
in

g

Local Authority Services (inc. statutory)
 Core offer?
 Restorative Practice
 MH Trailblazer
 GHLL
 EP/ATS
 Early Help

Lo
ca

l a
u

th
o

ri
ty

 o
ve

rs
ig

h
t 

an
d

  r
e

gu
la

ti
o

n

SE
N

 F
u

n
d

in
g 

(a
cc

es
se

d
 u

p
o

n
 

re
co

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
 f

ro
m

 S
EN

C
O

 P
an

el
)

D
ev

o
lv

ed
 A

P
 f

u
n

d
in

g

SE
N

 F
u

n
d

in
g 

(a
cc

es
se

d
 u

p
o

n
 

re
co

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
 f

ro
m

 S
EN

C
O

 P
an

el
)

Team Around the Cluster/School Team Around the Cluster/School

Commissioned Alternative 
Provision
 Primary – Partnership 

and Assessment places
 KS4 Academic and 

Vocational Offer

Page 43



 

 

Page 44



Draft – Subject to approval at the next meeting of the Working Group.  

Notes of the Gloucestershire Schools Forum Working Group 
Thursday 17 October 2019, in the Claydon Suite Board Room, Shire Hall 
 
Present members: Brian Bartlett, Primary Governor; Colin Belford, Secondary School 
Headteacher, Lyn Dance, Special School Headteacher (Substitute), Andrew Harris, 
Community Representative (Chair), Lisa Jones, Primary School Headteacher, Steve Savory, 
Primary School Headteacher. 
Also in attendance: Paul Holroyd, Secondary School Headteacher; Nick Stanton, Alternative 
Provision. 
 
Officers: Philip Haslett, Head of Education Strategy and Development; Jamie Ford, County 
Inclusion Development Lead; Neil Egles, Finance Manager, Schools, Strategy and Capital; 
Joanne Bolton, Democratic Services Adviser and Clerk to the Schools Forum. 
 
Apologies: Elisa Entwistle, Alternative Provision; Peter Hales, Primary School Governor; 
Kirsten Harrison, Secondary School Headteacher; Amanda Horniman, Early Years; David 
Metcalf, Primary School Headteacher; Will Morgan, Secondary School Headteacher; Sarah 
Murphy, Trade Unions; Clare Steel, Special School Headteacher.  
 
1. Funding Inclusion and Early Intervention 
 
1.1 The Group considered the document which set out the draft proposal to deliver the 
recommendations of the ‘The Timpson Review of School Exclusion’, and the government’s 
response, by transforming the way in which Gloucestershire utilised High Needs funding to 
support inclusion and thus, reduce rates of permanent exclusion.  
 
1.2 The Group was informed that working with Gloucestershire schools, the local 
authority was proposing a partial devolvement of High Needs Block Funding to schools in 
order to provide earlier targeted interventions for children to reduce the risk of exclusion and 
better support for their challenging behaviour.  The development of a new SEND funding 
model would also be explored that was focused on ensuring funding was available to provide 
intervention and support at the earliest opportunity (including outside of the Education Health 
and Care Plan process).  
 
1.3 It was noted that a significant proportion of permanent exclusions both nationally and 
in Gloucestershire took place in the secondary phase; in 2018/19 there were 96 permanent 
secondary exclusions.  The rates of permanent exclusions in primary schools had reduced 
significantly over the last 18 months with 17 permanent exclusions in 2018/19, down from 30 
in 2017/18.  The plan was to build on the improvements that were seen last year.  At the 
current levels the authority would still be spending too much money on supporting children 
and young people that had already been permanently excluded, and not enough on 
identifying and supporting those at risk of permanent exclusion.   
 
1.4 The Head of Education Strategy and Development outlined to the members the three 
core elements of the proposal.  He emphasised that the purpose of the meeting was to 
review and agree the key principles, and to seek their feedback on moving forward with this 
approach.     
 
1.5 The Group was informed that Jamie Ford, County Inclusion Development Lead, 
would be working with secondary headteachers to explore what the secondary local cluster 
collaborative support and intervention arrangements would look like.  It was explained that 
once the school and local cluster had exhausted the options to support a child or young 
person to stay in the mainstream, the local cluster would be able to commission a place in a 
specialist Alternative Provision Service.  The aim was to provide support and intervention 

Page 45



Draft – Subject to approval at the next meeting of the Working Group.  

much earlier in a child’s education so that a move to a specialist Alternative Provision 
Service was avoided before KS4.   
 
1.6 In regards to the primary phase should the support from the school and from the 
Primary Local Inclusion Clusters (LINCs) not prove effective in allowing the child to access 
mainstream education, the school would work closely with the Local Authority to agree the 
most appropriate provision for the child to transition.  The aim was to set the expectation that 
no child would be permanently excluded from primary education.  
 
1.7 Members discussed the key principles of the proposal and the following points were 
raised: 
 
1.7.1 A member stressed that the primary schools would need to reach a clear and 
equitable baseline for the inclusion of children in mainstream education. Primary school 
headteachers were experiencing children with challenging behaviour in the reception year 
and year 1, and therefore the pace of being able to access the funding and support services 
needed improvement.  It was critical that support could be accessed as soon as it was 
needed, instead of at the time of when a child had been permanently excluded.  It was 
emphasised that local arrangements needed to be in place to facilitate an immediate 
assessment of the child’s needs and the services available, to avoid a permanent exclusion.   
 
1.7.2 There was recognition amongst the members that schools currently had different 
thresholds of measuring persistent disruptive behaviour, and therefore establishing a 
consistent baseline would be a positive step, particularly in regards to improving the success 
of managed moves.  However, the issue of dealing with a one-off serious breach of the 
school behaviour policy remained a challenge.  A member made the point that the new 
model required the flexibility to manage this type of incident, if permanent exclusion was to 
be avoided.  However, heads would still need to ensure that they were complying with the 
law relating to the exclusion process, and managing parental expectations accordingly.   
There was recognition that alternative approaches to permanent exclusion following a one-
off serious incident was a grey area and needed further development.       
 
1.7.3 The County Inclusion Development Lead explained that in order to make a different 
solution from permanent exclusion available, where applicable, there needed to be a rapid 
response in providing specialist support.  It was noted that the proposal was for this to be 
undertaken by a cluster inclusion improvement panel and in addition, a referral to a strategic 
behaviour support panel.   
 
1.7.4 A member raised the point that if there was to be an increase in managed moves 
through the secondary inclusion clusters, then the issue of who held the responsibility of 
transport costs needed to be considered (i.e. the home school, the local authority or the local 
inclusion cluster).  It was acknowledged that the responsibility of transport costs would affect 
the level of funding devolved to the secondary inclusion clusters.    
 
1.7.5 A member commented that in his experience what worked well at present was having 
a single point of contact at the local authority to advise schools on the services that were 
available, and to provide an element of co-ordination.  He was concerned that this may be 
lost in the development of the secondary inclusion cluster model.  He added that there 
needed to be a centralised record of the support services available.   The question was 
posed as to how accessible the services would be under this model.  
 
1.7.6 A member underlined the point that for those pupils who had been permanently 
excluded from two or more schools, the option of securing a place at a special school, 
should be accessible to headteachers much earlier than currently.  He stressed that the lack 

Page 46



Draft – Subject to approval at the next meeting of the Working Group.  

of availability of special school places was having an adverse impact on mainstream 
schools. 
 
1.7.7 The County Inclusion Development Lead explained that further development was 
required on how the local authority services and health care services would be accessible to 
the local inclusion clusters, and if applicable how a referral strategy would work. 
 
1.7.8 A member made the point that for the local inclusion clusters to work equitably  
then it was critical that they had a consistent approach across the board, to standard 
processes, and in the provision of, and providing access to services.   
 
1.7.9 There was concern raised around the capacity of SENCOs and other school staff 
being able to take the necessary time out of schools to provide the support to the local 
inclusion clusters, given that school resources were already stretched. 
 
1.8 It was felt that local decision making with multi-agency support through local inclusion 
clusters should be chaired by Gloucestershire Association of Special School Headteachers, 
with heads from the different areas. 
 
1.9 The Group discussed the plans to re-design and develop the Specialist Alternative 
Provision Service.  A member commented that the directory of Alternative Provision required 
a clear and transparent funding model outlining the funding responsibilities of the secondary 
inclusion clusters and the local authority.  It was recognised that some schools would set up 
their own service within the local clusters, through the use of the devolved funding. The 
Alternative Provision Service would form part of the provision from which clusters could 
purchase their services from.  A member emphasised that high quality teaching was a key 
component to ensure the best outcomes for the child and to meet the requirements of an 
Ofsted inspection, as the child’s education would remain the responsibility of the home 
school.     
 
1.10 The Head of Education Strategy and Development explained that consultation on the 
core elements of the proposal would continue with feedback sought from Gloucestershire 
Association of Primary Headteachers and Gloucestershire Association of Secondary 
Headteachers.   
 
1.11 Members, on the whole, indicated that they were in agreement with the key 
objectives of the proposal, but they also looked forward to receiving further details on how 
the objectives would be achieved, and the associated financial model, as the new approach 
was developed.  
 
1.12 The Head of Education Strategy and Development explained that at the next meeting 
of the Working Group on 27 November 2019, further details on the funding options, would be 
presented for discussion. 
 
 
Ends. 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Analysis of School Funding 
Announcements September 2019 
 

 

 

• Most schools still lower funded than 2015, with children continuing to lose out 

• Most money going to most affluent areas 

• Sixth form pupils still very hard hit, underlying why 30% of secondary schools are in deficit  

• Maintained nursery schools at risk of closure from next August 

• High needs crisis continues 
 

 

This analysis looks at the three Government announcements at the end of August. 

• School funding 

• 16-19 funding 

• £30,000 starting salary for NQTs 

 

Teacher pay rise 
The teacher pay rise for NQTs amounts to 23% over three years or 7.2% a year. To determine the cost of this, we 

have made some assumptions: 

• Teachers on the Upper Pay Range and the Leadership Pay Range will receive 3% a year. 

• Teachers on M6 will receive 3% a year. 

• Teachers on M2 to M5 will receive a tapered increase which will narrow differentials. 

These aren’t the pay rises we think are necessary, which would be higher. But it would not be credible to increase 

starting pay by 7.2% per annum without at least 3% on upper and leadership spines. These are therefore, in our 

view, minimum pay rises. They lead to conservative estimates of the number of schools that will continue to face 

financial difficulties. We look forward to seeing the Government’s assessment of how much schools can afford to 

increase teacher pay in the Secretary of State’s remit letter to the School Teachers Review Body. 

 
 

Annual 
pay rise 

Cumulative 
pay rise 

M1 7.2% 23% 

M2 6.3% 20% 

M3 5.5% 17% 

M4 4.7% 14% 

M5 3.9% 12% 

M6 3.0% 9% 

 

  

Page 49

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/prime-minister-boosts-schools-with-14-billion-package
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/chancellor-announces-400-million-investment-for-16-19-year-olds-education
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/30000-starting-salaries-proposed-for-teachers


This gives the following average awards: 

Pay range Annual pay 
rise 

Cumulative 
pay rise 

Share of 
total pay 

MPR 5.1% 16.1% 32% 

UPR 3.0% 9.3% 45% 

LPR 3.0% 9.3% 23% 

Average 3.7% 11.5%   

    

Cost £0.88bn £2.76bn  
 

School Costs 
We can update our expected school costs index with this teacher pay increase of 3.7% a year. We assume that 

support staff will receive an average of 3.1% a year – this is same as the award for the last two years and is due to 

the increase in the National Living Wage. Non-school costs are estimated using the GDP deflator, roughly 2% a year. 

This results in school costs rising by 9.4% over the next three years or 3% a year. This is only marginally higher than 

the current rate of increase of 2.5%. 

 

  

Page 50



Schools Block 
Per pupil funding has declined in real terms since 2015. The shortfall, compared with 2015, currently stands at 

£2.9bn. Despite the additional funds recently announced by the Government, our analysis reveals that this shortfall 

will still be £2bn by the end of the period. 

The announcement increases the core schools’ budget by £2.6bn in 2020/21, £4.8bn in 2021/22 and £7.1bn in 

2022/23. In the first year, the Schools Block will increase by £1.9bn and the High Needs Block by £0.7bn. We have 

assumed that the Government will increase the proportion of the core schools budget that goes to the Schools Block 

in future years to allow the funding shortfall to fall. 

However, there is a significant risk that the scale of the need in High Needs block will force the Government to divert 

money from schools. This has been the pattern over the last few years. 

Year Actual Necessary Gap 

2015-16 £32.2bn £32.2bn £0.0bn 

2016-17 £32.7bn £33.9bn -£1.2bn 

2017-18 £33.1bn £35.1bn -£2.0bn 

2018-19 £34.3bn £36.5bn -£2.2bn 

2019-20 £35.1bn £38.0bn -£2.9bn 

2020-21 £37.0bn £39.5bn -£2.5bn 

2021-22 £38.6bn £41.1bn -£2.4bn 

2022-23 £40.6bn £42.5bn -£2.0bn 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 51



Distribution 
The Government has also announced that every secondary school will receive a minimum funding level of £5,000 per 

pupil next year and a minimum of £3,750 for primary children. In addition, the Government is consulting on making 

these minimums binding on Schools Forums.   

The National Funding Formula (NFF) rates will be increased by about 4%. 

All schools that are below their final NFF funding rate will be moved up to it in April.  

All schools that are funded above the NFF rate will receive a funding increase of 1.84%, the GDP deflator for April. 

In addition, the Teacher Pay Grant will continue to be paid to all schools to contribute to teacher pay rises for 2018 

and 2019. This amounts to roughly £500m.  

School costs are estimated at 2.9% for next year, so 6,192 schools (31%) will have to make further cuts next year. At 

the moment, 91% of schools have real terms cuts compared with 2015. This will go down to 81% in April and 66% in 

three years. 

Phase Change in per 
pupil funding 

2015/16 to 
2020/21 

Schools with 
funding 
shortfall 
2020/21 

Schools with 
funding 
shortfall 
2022/23 

Schools with 
more cuts in 

2020/21 

Primary -£205 81% 66% 31% 

Secondary -£229 81% 67% 28% 

 

The distribution of additional funding by deprivation is stark. The extra money largely goes to schools that serve the 

most affluent communities. Secondary schools with less than 5% of children on free school meals will have cuts by 

next April of £33 per child compared with 2015, whereas schools serving the most deprived children will have cuts of 

£427 per child. 

Free School 
Meals band 

Change in per 
pupil funding 

2015/16 to 
2020/21 

Schools with 
funding 
shortfall 
2020/21 

Schools with 
funding 
shortfall 
2022/23 

Schools with 
more cuts in 

2020/21 

Percent FSM 

1st -£343 88% 79% 47% 41% 

2nd -£306 86% 75% 43% 29% 

3rd -£270 86% 73% 36% 23% 

4th -£248 85% 72% 33% 18% 

5th -£222 84% 69% 28% 14% 

6th -£179 80% 61% 26% 12% 

7th -£160 78% 60% 26% 9% 

8th -£119 76% 57% 23% 6% 

9th -£108 77% 58% 25% 4% 

Lowest -£80 72% 54% 26% 2% 

 

  

Page 52



Free School 
Meals band 

Change in 
per pupil 
funding 

2015/16 to 
2020/21 

Schools with 
funding 
shortfall 
2020/21 

Schools with 
funding 
shortfall 
2022/23 

Schools with 
more cuts in 

2020/21 

Percent FSM 

1st -£427 88% 79% 53% 37% 

2nd -£340 84% 72% 46% 26% 

3rd -£291 82% 69% 37% 21% 

4th -£290 88% 72% 34% 18% 

5th -£263 83% 72% 30% 15% 

6th -£250 88% 73% 24% 12% 

7th -£203 85% 64% 18% 10% 

8th -£184 84% 68% 20% 8% 

9th -£123 77% 58% 11% 7% 

Lowest -£33 58% 45% 12% 4% 

 

There is significant regional variation. London is still the worst hit region. Given the scale of remaining cuts, it is 

stretch to describe this as levelling up. 

Region Change in 
per pupil 
funding 

2015/16 to 
2020/21 

Schools with 
funding 
shortfall 
2020/21 

Schools with 
funding 
shortfall 
2022/23 

Schools with 
more cuts in 

2020/21 

Percent FSM 

East Midlands -£166 75% 57% 20% 14% 

East of England -£212 81% 63% 22% 12% 

London -£362 92% 86% 62% 18% 

North East -£227 83% 66% 26% 23% 

North West -£256 87% 75% 38% 18% 

South East -£117 76% 57% 22% 11% 

South West -£142 70% 51% 10% 13% 

West Midlands -£257 85% 73% 40% 18% 

Yorkshire and the Humber -£197 79% 63% 33% 18% 

 
  

Page 53



Minimum funding level 
773 secondary schools, a quarter, will receive additional funding to lift their funding level to £5,000 per pupil. 2,464 

primary schools, 15%, will also receive the funding. 

The level of deprivation in these secondary schools varies from schools with no children in receipt of free school 

meals to 15%. For primary schools, the range is from no children to 19%. On average, 14% of children receive free 

school meals. A wide range of schools will receive identical funding allocations despite significant differences in 

need. 

The minimum funding protection costs £300m. If the minimum funding level was implemented by an uplift to the 

Age Weighted Pupil Unit (AWPU), it would cost £4bn.  

 

Phase NFF rate in lowest 
funded school 

Uprate necessary 

Primary  £3,254  £496  

Secondary  £4,389   £611  

 

Phase AWPU Pupils 2018/19 Uprated AWPU 

Primary  £2,857  4,519,055   £3,353  

KS3  £4,017  1,731,343   £4,628  

KS4  £4,561  1,072,587   £5,172  

 

Phase Cost of AWPU increase 

Primary  £2,240,983,494  

KS3  £1,057,220,508  

KS4  £654,960,491  

Total  £3,953,164,493  

 

 

  

Page 54



High Needs 
The High Needs block, along with the 16-19 budget, is the most stretched. The cost of restoring the value of an 

Education and Health Care Plan (EHC Plan) to its 2015 value currently stands at £1.7bn. The Local Government 

Association in its report, “Tipping Point”, estimated that the High Needs budget would be overspent by £1.2bn next 

year, so the Government announcement of £700m is clearly inadequate. The crisis in High Needs will be ameliorated 

next year but will return. The Department for Education claims that EHC Plan numbers have plateaued, but given the 

steady increase in EHC Plan numbers since the introduction of the Children and Families Act 2014, this seems to be a 

case of wilful self-delusion. 

Year Actual Necessary Gap 

2015-16 £5.2bn £5.2bn £0.0bn 

2016-17 £5.3bn £6.0bn -£0.7bn 

2017-18 £5.8bn £6.7bn -£0.8bn 

2018-19 £6.0bn £7.5bn -£1.5bn 

2019-20 £6.3bn £7.9bn -£1.7bn 

2020-21 £7.0bn £8.5bn -£1.5bn 

2021-22 £7.4bn £9.0bn -£1.6bn 

2022-23 £7.8bn £9.6bn -£1.8bn 

 

 

 

  

Page 55



Early Years  
The Chancellor announced an increase of £66m for Early Years. This will increase the hourly rate by inflation (1.84%). 

This is insufficient because costs are rising faster than inflation due to the proportion of Early Years staff who are on 

the National Living Wage and that the rate has not been increased since 2017. 

This is a risk to school finances in two ways. First the Government will recognise that it needs to raise the hourly rate 

to children. Secondly, many primary schools have early years classes without increases in the hourly rate then their 

expenditure may exceed income. 

Year Actual Necessary Gap 

2015-16 £2.7bn £2.7bn £0.0bn 

2016-17 £2.7bn £2.8bn -£0.1bn 

2017-18 £3.3bn £3.4bn -£0.2bn 

2018-19 £3.6bn £3.8bn -£0.2bn 

2019-20 £3.6bn £3.9bn -£0.3bn 

2020-21 £3.7bn £3.9bn -£0.3bn 

2021-22 £3.7bn £4.0bn -£0.2bn 

2022-23 £3.8bn £4.1bn -£0.3bn 

 

 

 

  

Page 56



Maintained Nursery Schools 
There has been no announcement about funding for these 392 schools. 31% of their funding comes from a special 

grant which is roughly £60m a year. The grant runs out in August 2020. The grant is a constituent part of the Early 

Years block.  

These schools are at serious risk if the Government does not give a commitment to continue this grant beyond 

August 2020. 

 

Pupil Premium 
There was no announcement of any additional funding for the Pupil Premium. The rates have not been uprated with 

inflation since 2014 when it was introduced. 

Year Actual Necessary Gap 

2015-16 £2.4bn £2.4bn £0.0bn 

2016-17 £2.4bn £2.5bn -£0.1bn 

2017-18 £2.4bn £2.5bn -£0.1bn 

2018-19 £2.4bn £2.5bn -£0.1bn 

2019-20 £2.4bn £2.7bn -£0.3bn 

2020-21 £2.4bn £2.8bn -£0.4bn 

2021-22 £2.4bn £2.9bn -£0.5bn 

2022-23 £2.4bn £3.0bn -£0.6bn 

 

 

 

  

Page 57



16-19 funding 
16-19 education is under the most pressure, in particular, the funding for school sixth forms and sixth form colleges. 

This funding has been cut by 27% per pupil in real terms. 

We have calculated that the 16-19 budget needs £1.1bn now, rising to £1.7bn by 2022/23 largely as a result of rising 

pupil numbers.  

The announcement only gives an additional £400m for 2020/21. The increase in funding will rise in line with costs 

next year, but it will do nothing to reverse cuts. 

Year Actual Necessary Gap 

2015-16 £5.9bn £6.6bn -£0.7bn 

2016-17 £5.8bn £6.6bn -£0.8bn 

2017-18 £5.7bn £6.6bn -£0.9bn 

2018-19 £5.7bn £6.6bn -£0.9bn 

2019-20 £5.7bn £6.8bn -£1.1bn 

2020-21 £6.1bn £7.2bn -£1.1bn 

2021-22 £6.2bn £7.5bn -£1.3bn 

2022-23 £6.3bn £7.8bn -£1.4bn 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 58



Conclusion 
We have won a very significant increase in school funding. We asked for £9.3bn for under 16s, and we won £7.1bn. 

Overall, we asked for an increase in revenue of £12.6bn by 2022/23 and the recent announcements put £9bn into 

education. 

The big problem is that the Government announced this money to deal with school cuts but then committed a large 

proportion of that money to give a necessary boost to teacher pay. Unfortunately, the size of the settlement is 

simply not enough to do both.  

There is a significant risk that the High Needs budget will continue to run out of control and will have to be bailed 

out with money from schools. The Government must commit sufficient funds to ensure that all pupils receive the 

support they need.  

We must continue to campaign vigorously for an increase in 16-19 funding. This is a large part of why secondary 

schools are in so much financial distress with 30% in deficit. 

Mr Johnson said: “Today I can announce the first step in delivering on that pledge – funding per pupil in primary and 

secondary schools will increase, and be levelled up across the entire country.” This is not the case. He also said: “My 

Government will ensure all young people get the best possible start in life.”  

Given that we have the highest primary class sizes in the developed world, that the proportion of secondary pupils in 

classes over 30 is at a 37-year-high and that schools cannot afford to provide a qualified teacher for every lesson, we 

still have a long way to go before his aspiration can be met. The campaign must continue. 

 

 

Andrew Baisley 

andrew.baisley@neu.org.uk  

17th September 2019 

Page 59

mailto:andrew.baisley@neu.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Amendment to the Membership Structure of the Schools Forum (Special School Representation)
	Amendment to the Membership Structure
	The Schools Forum Constitution

	6 School Funding 2020/21
	7 High Needs
	Funding Inclusion and Early Intervention
	Schools Forum Working Group - Notes of the meeting 17 October 2019

	8 F40

